RECEIVED

08-24-2010

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Appellate Case No. 2010 AP 1170 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

-VS-

JOHN M. EATON,

Defendant-Appellant.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Appealed from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Circuit Court for Dane County the Honorable Robert Dechambeau and the Honorable Stephen E. Ehlke Presiding Trial Court Case No. 09 CT 3016

Respectfully Submitted:

Lanning Law Offices, LLC 2100 Gateway Court, Suite 200 West Bend, WI 53095 Telephone: (262) 334-9900

By: **Chad A. Lanning** State Bar No. 1027573 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

WHETHER LAW ENFORCEMENT LACKED REASONABLE SUPICION TO STOP AND DETAIN MR. EATON?

Trial Court Answered: No.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

The Defendant-Appellant believes oral argument is unnecessary in this case. Pursuant to Rule 809.22(2)(b), Stats., the briefs will fully develop and explain the issues. Therefore, oral argument would be of only marginal value and would not justify the expense of court time.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant believes publication of this case is also unnecessary. Pursuant to Rule 809.23(1)(b), Stats., this case involves the application of well-settled rules of law.

1

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

On June 5, 2009, at approximately 2:18 a.m. Mr. John Eaton, the Defendant-Appellant, was driving his motor vehicle on East Washington Avenue in Dane County, Wisconsin. (R26 at 5, 10.); (App. at 105,110.) At that time, Officer Joel Stelter of the Madison Police Department was driving ahead of and in same direction as Mr. Eaton on East Washington Avenue. (R26 at 12.); (App. at 112.)

Officer Stelter admitted that he knew he was driving below the speed limit, as he frequently drives below the speed limit in this area. (R26 at 19.); (App. at 119.) At one point, Officer Stelter stated that he was driving up to 5 miles an hour below the posted speed limit of 35 miles per hour. (R26 at 12-13, 19.); (App. at 112-113, 119.)

Officer Stelter only looked at his speedometer once "after [he] was approached by the vehicle from behind." (R26 at 19.); (App. at 119.) Specifically, Officer Stelter stated that his speedometer was "approximately in the 32 range" at that time. *Id*.

Officer Stelter characterized Mr. Eaton's vehicle as approaching his vehicle at a high rate of speed relative to his vehicle's speed. (R26 at 13.); (App. at 113.) Further, Officer Stelter indicated that he estimated the speed Mr. Eaton's vehicle at 45 miles per hour. (R26 at 7.); (App. at 107.)

Eventually, Mr. Eaton caught up to the officer's vehicle. *Id.* Mr. Eaton then slowed and matched the officer's speed. *Id.* Officer Stelter acknowledged that drivers will hit their breaks when they first see an officer even when they are not doing anything wrong. (R26 at 14.); (App. at 14.)

Next, Officer Stelter slowed down even more, until his speed reached approximately 18 miles per hour. (R26 at 8.); (App. at 108.) At that point, Mr. Eaton stopped slowing with the officer, and resumed traveling at the speed limit. (R26 at 8,19.); (App. at 108,119.) Again, Officer Stelter acknowledged that drivers are reluctant to pass police officers, even if they are going the speed limit. (R26 at 14.); (App. at 114.)

Next, Officer Stelter stated that he observed Mr. Eaton's vehicle slowly weaving several feet in each direction. (R26 at 9,16.); (App. at 109, 116.) Lastly, Officer Stelter indicated that Mr. Eaton "put his turn signal on, got into the furthest right lane, came to a complete stop, sat there for a second or two, deactivated the turn signal and proceeded straight through the intersection." (R26 at 10.); (App. at 110.) Officer Stelter then activated his emergency lights and stopped Mr. Eaton's vehicle. *Id*.

Mr. Eaton was subsequently charged with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Under the Influence of an Intoxicant (Second Offense), and Operating a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (Second Offense). (R1.)

Through a written motion dated August 28, 2009, Mr. Eaton, by counsel, moved to suppress evidence based on a lack of reasonable suspicion to detain him. (R11.); (App. at 131-136.) A motion hearing was held on October 19, 2009. (R26.);

(App. at 101-130.) Officer Stelter was the only person to testify at the hearing.

During the hearing, Mr. Eaton objected to the officer's discussion of speed based upon a lack of foundation. (R26 at 5-8.); (App. at 105-8.) Moreover, the officer admitted that he had no idea exactly how fast Mr. Eaton was going. (R26 at 13.); (App. at 113.) Lastly, the officer was shown a portion of video recording that his dash mounted camera had made of the stop. (R26 at 16-18.); (App. at 116-18.); (R13.) After viewing the video, the officer admitted that he could not see the two to three feet of lane deviation that he had previously testified observing. (R26 at 18.); (App. at 118.) The officer, however, stated that the video was blurry. (R26 at 20.); (App. at 120.)

At the conclusion of the hearing, the State argued that the officer had probable cause to stop Mr. Eaton based on the officer's estimation that Mr. Eaton was above the speed limit. (R26 at 22.); (App. at 122.) Further, the State argued that

reasonable suspicion existed to justify the stop based upon the cumulative observations of the officer, i.e., bar time, unusual speed, weaving, stopping at a yellow light and using a turn signal, but going straight. *Id*.

Mr. Eaton argued that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion to stop him. First, the officer admitted that he did not know Mr. Eaton's speed. (R26 at 24.); (App. at 124.) Moreover, Mr. Eaton's slowing down when approaching the officer and any reluctance to pass were normal driving behaviors caused by the officer's own actions of intentionally driving below the speed limit. *Id*.

Second, the officer's testimony regarding substantial weaving was contradicted by the video recording. (R26 at 25-26.); (App. at 125-26.) Third, Mr. Eaton argued that stopping at a yellow light was not against the law, and was consistent with the requirement that drivers proceed with caution when

approaching a flashing yellow light. (R26 at 27-28.); (App. at 127-28.)

The circuit court denied Mr. Eaton's motion to suppress based upon the officer having reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances. (R26 at 30.); (App. at 130.) Thus, the circuit court did not find the officer had probable cause to arrest based on the officer's estimation that Mr. Eaton was driving over the speed limit.

In its ruling, the circuit court stressed that in its experience, most videos are, "if not worthless, pretty close to it." (R26 at 28.); (App. at 28.) Thus, the court stated that it "completely discounted" the video. (R26 at 29.); (App. at 129.) Specifically, the court stated that the officer saw the weaving with his naked eye and "there's no evidence that it wasn't other then the video which in my view, which I guess is important here, in my view as evidence, it really doesn't show much." *Id*.

The circuit court then summarized the totality of the circumstances as follows:

It's 2:18. He sees a vehicle coming up on him at what he determines, rightly or wrongly, but he determines as an excess of the speed limit. That's an indicator that someone may be impaired. The vehicle slows as the officer slows. I don't find that too unusual, but it is a factor that's added into the other factors; he's weaving in his lane and I accept the officer's testimony that he, as the officer drops behind him, the defendant's vehicle proceeds and turns on the turn signal, and then doesn't turn, but stops for these flashing lights.

(R26 at 30.); (App. at 130.)

Subsequently, Mr. Eaton plead no contest and was convicted of Operating a Motor Vehicle With a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (Second Offense) in violation of Wisconsin Statute sec. 346.63(1)(b). The charge of Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated (Second Offense) was dismissed.

Mr. Eaton now appeals the denial of his Motion to Suppress Based on a Lack of Reasonable Suspicion to Detain him.

ARGUMENT

LAW ENFORCEMENT LACKED REASONABLE SUSPICION TO DETAIN MR. EATON.

Citizens have the right to be free from "unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 137, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990)(citing the fourth amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I sec. 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution). When an officer stops a vehicle and detains its occupants, the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments are implicated and reasonable suspicion, at a minimum, must exist

2 The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized.

Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause, supported by oath or

for the seizure to be constitutional. *See Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d at 139, citing *United States v. Hensley*, 469 U.S. 221, 226 (1985); *see generally Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); Wisconsin Stat. § 968.24 (2005-06)(codifying the *Terry* standard).

The question of whether an investigatory traffic stop violated a driver's constitutional rights because it was not based on reasonable suspicion is a question of constitutional fact. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60 ¶8, 733 N.W.2d 634. A question of constitutional fact is a mixed question of law and fact to which appellate courts apply a two-step standard of review. *Id.* First, appellate courts review the trial court's findings of historical fact under the clearly erroneous standard. *Id.* Second, appellate courts independently review the application of those facts to constitutional principles. *Id.*

affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be search and the persons or things to be seized.

The burden of establishing that an investigatory traffic stop is reasonable falls on the State. *State v. Taylor*, 60 Wis. 2d 506, 519, 210 N.W.2d 873 (1973).

To execute a valid investigatory traffic stop, *Terry* and its progeny require that a law enforcement officer reasonably suspect, in light of his or her experience, that some kind of criminal activity has taken or is taking place. *Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d at 139, citing *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27, 30. An officer's "inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or 'hunch'" will not suffice. *Post*, 2007 WI at ¶10, *citing Terry*, 392 U.S. at 27. Therefore, to justify a *Terry* stop, law enforcement officers "must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts" led them to suspect criminal activity was afoot. *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21, 30; *State v. Waldner*, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 55, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996).

The determination of reasonableness is a common sense test based on the totality of the facts and circumstances known to the officer at the time of the stop. *Richardson*, 156 Wis. 2d at 139-40; *see also Post*, 2007 WI at ¶13. This common sense approach balances the rights of individuals to be free from unreasonable intrusions, and the interests of the State to effectively prevent, detect, and investigate crimes. *State v. Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶15, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516; *Post*, 2007 WI at ¶13.

A. Speed.

Officer Stelter admitted that he was aware that he was driving below the speed limit when he first noticed Mr. Eaton approaching him from behind. (R26 at 19.); (App. at 119.) Rather than speed up to the speed limit, Officer Stelter continued to drive below the speed limit and concluded that Mr. Eaton was traveling at high rate of speed relative to his speed. (R26 at 13.); (App. at 113.)

Further, Officer Stelter testified over Mr. Eaton's objection that he estimated Mr. Eaton's speed at 45 miles per hour, i.e., 10 over the posted speed limit. (R26 at 7.); (App. at 107.) Importantly, the circuit court did not accept the officer's estimation of speed. (R26 at 30.); (App. at 130.)

should have been completely discounted, however, as the proper foundation was not provided. Specifically, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has acknowledged that while it is difficult to estimate the speed of a vehicle moving in the opposite direction, it is possible. *City of Milwaukee v. Berry*, 44 Wis. 2d 321, 323-24, 171 N.W.2d 306 (1969). No other case has held that the driver of a moving vehicle can accurately look behind him and estimate the speed of an approaching vehicle. Moreover, the record in this case is unclear how the officer was in a position to estimate the speed of a vehicle approaching him from behind while controlling his own vehicle as it continued to travel down

the road. *See Bellrichard v Chicago & N. W. Ry.*, 246 Wis. 569, 567, 20 N.W.2d 710 (1945)(viewing a train for a few seconds is too short to enable a witness to judge speed).

Thus, any reference to speed should not have been used in the totality of the circumstances to justify the stop of Mr. Eaton.

B. Slowing and Reluctantly Passing the Officer.

Mr. Eaton's vehicle eventually approached the officer's slow moving vehicle. Prior to passing the officer, Mr. Eaton slowed and matched the officer's speed. (R26 at 7-8.); (App. at 107-8.) Officer Stelter acknowledged that drivers will hit their breaks when they first see an officer even when they are not doing anything wrong. (R26 at 14.); (App. at 14.)

Next, rather than speeding up to the speed limit, or pulling to the side of the road, Officer Stelter slowed down even more, until his speed reached approximately 18 miles per hour. (R26 at 8.); (App. at 108.) At that point, Mr. Eaton stopped

matching the officer's speed, and resumed traveling at the speed limit. (R26 at 8,19.); (App. at 108,119.) Again, Officer Stelter acknowledged that drivers are reluctant to pass police officers, even if they are going the speed limit. (R26 at 14.); (App. at 114.)

Yet the officer testified that Mr. Eaton's behavior lead him to believe that Mr. Eaton was "attempting to prevent me from obtaining the information from the rear license plate of the vehicle." (R26 at 8.); (App. at 108.)

Importantly, the Wisconsin Supreme Court has stated that law enforcement should not be able to induce a driver's behavior and then take legal action against them for that behavior. *See State v. Brown*, 107 Wis. 2d 44, 55-56, 318 N.W.2d 370 (1982)(a defendant in a speeding case may claim that his violation should be excused if it was caused by the state itself through the actions of a law enforcement officer). Specifically, the *Brown* court stated:

The traffic laws of this state are the citizen's primary exposure to law enforcement; for many citizens traffic law is the only area in which they have direct contact with law enforcement officers. Therefore it is particularly important in the enforcement of traffic laws that the public perceive a policy of even-handed and just law enforcement. If citizens are expected to deal fairly with the state and respect the laws, the state must deal fairly with its citizens and show respect for its citizens.

Id.

Importantly, an officer driving slowly down the street sends an ambiguous message to other drivers. For example, a driver may think that the officer is looking for a specific thing in the area, or perhaps the officer is aware of a specific danger. The driving public obviously will have no idea what the officer is doing, but will act consistent with their perception of possible a danger.

Thus, law enforcement should not be able to intentionally drive below the posted speed limit and then use the unknowing public's reaction as a reason to stop them.

Admittedly, the circuit court did not find the fact that Mr. Eaton

slowed down as "too unusual." (R26 at 30.); (App. at 130.) Nevertheless, the circuit court still considered this as a factor in its analysis. *Id.* The circuit court, however, should not have considered that behavior at all.

C. Weaving.

Officer Stelter also testified that he observed Mr. Eaton's vehicle slowly weaving several feet in each direction. (R26 at 9,16.); (App. at 109,116.) Importantly, all of Mr. Eaton's alleged weaving should have been captured on Officer Stelter's video recording of the stop. (R26 at 16.); (App. at 116.) Yet, after viewing the video, Officer Stelter admitted that he could not see any weaving. (R26 at 18.); (App. at 118.) Further, the circuit court acknowledged that the video did not support the officer's testimony. Specifically, the court stated:

He's looking at it with the naked eye and he sees this weaving. There's no evidence that it wasn't other than the video.

(R26 at 29.); (App. at 129.)

The circuit court then "completely discounted" the video and stated that the "best evidence" was the officer's testimony. *Id*.

The circuit court's statement that most video recordings are either worthless or close to it, indicates that the court's findings were biased. Rather, the video recording in this case contradicted the officer and, thus, the circuit court's findings to the contrary are clearly erroneous. *See State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶20, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569. Therefore, the circuit court's implicit finding that the video did not contain any weaving should have been considered by the circuit court.

As Mr. Eaton argued at the motion hearing:

The quality of the video in this case certainly isn't poor. There's no deviating. There are no lights moving across the screen. This is a clear night and you have a clear view of the Eaton vehicle from approximately two to three car lengths behind which would have been the officer's vantage point. Clearly, you would be able to see the Eaton taillights moving in accordance with the officer's

description if, in fact, those instances of lane deviations were as pronounced as he described.

(R26 at 26.); (App. at 126.)(emphasis added).

Therefore, the circuit court's finding that Mr. Eaton had in fact weaved in his lane was unsupported by the record and was clearly erroneous. Thus, the reported weaving should not have been used in the totality of the circumstances to justify the stop of Mr. Eaton.

D. Stopping at the Yellow Light and Blinker.

It is legal to stop at a flashing yellow light. Specifically, Section 346.39(2) states:

Flashing signals. Whenever flashing red or yellow signal are used they require obedience by vehicular traffic as follows:

. . .

(2) Flashing Yellow (Caution Signal). When a yellow lens is illuminated with rapid intermittent flashes, operators of vehicle may proceed through the intersection or past such signal only with caution.

Furthermore, it is not illegal to activate a turn signal and not turn. There was nothing unusual regarding Mr. Eaton's driving in this regard. In fact, Mr. Eaton's driving

showed a cautious, safe driver, possibly looking for the correct street to turn on. Simply changing one's mind about executing a turn (e.g., the driver is lost, shoes the wrong road, etc.) should not subject people to unwarranted and unconstitutional stops.

In other words, the observations of stopping at a flashing yellow light and using a turn signal and not turning are inadequate to support the belief that Mr. Eaton was violating the law or operating under the influence of an intoxicant. As the Wisconsin Supreme Court held, "[s]tanding alone, driving the wrong way on a one-way street and failure to signal a turn are not indicative of driving under the influence." *City of Milwaukee v. Johnston*, 21 Wis. 2d 411, 413, 124 N.W.2d 690 (1963).

E. The Totality of the Circumstances.

In the present case, the circuit court should have considered the following facts in its totality of the circumstances analysis:

- The officer was driving below the speed limit when he decided to follow a vehicle he perceived as driving faster than him, but at some unknown speed. (R26 at 13.); (App. at 113.)
- After Mr. Eaton's vehicle passed the officer, Mr. Eaton maintained the proper speed. (R26 at 19.); (App. at 19.)
- Mr. Eaton used a blinker and changed lanes. (R26 at 10.); (App. at 10.)
- Mr. Eaton stopped at a flashing yellow light. *Id*.
- Mr. Eaton then deactivated his turn signal and continued through the intersection. (R26 at 10,12.); (App. at 110,112.)
- Mr. Eaton committed no traffic violations; and
- Mr. Eaton's vehicle was stopped at 2:18 A.M. (R26 at 11.); (App. at 111).

Again, the burden of establishing that an investigatory traffic stop is reasonable falls on the State. *Taylor*, 60 Wis. 2d at 519. Under the facts of this case, a reasonable police officer, in light of their experiences, would not suspect

that Mr. Eaton was committing the crime of Operating While Intoxicated.

The circuit court, however, incorrectly considered the additional factors of (1) the officer's determination of excessive speed; (2) that Mr. Eaton slowed down when the officer slowed down; and (3) that Mr. Eaton was weaving.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFOR, Mr. Eaton respectfully requests this Court to reverse his conviction based on the trial court's failure to suppress evidence.