RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 11-17-2010 COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV CLERK OF CO

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeals No. 2010AP001170-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

JOHN M EATON,

Defendant-Appellant.

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF DANE COUNTY, BRANCH 15, THE HONORABLE STEPHEN EHLKE, PRESIDING

Everett D. Mitchell Assistant District Attorney Dane County, Wisconsin Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent State Bar No. 1068408

215 South Hamilton Street
Dane County Courthouse, Room 3000
Madison, WI 53703
Telephone: (608)266-4211

ISSUE PRESENTED

(1) Whether under the totality of the circumstances, did Officer Stelter had reasonable suspicion to stop and detain Eaton's vehicle on June 5, 2009?

Trial court answered: YES

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND CASE

On June 5, 2009, at approximately 2:18 am, Madison Officer, Joel Stelter, was Police patrolling Washington Avenue in city of Madison. [R26.5:5-14]. Officer Stelter observed a vehicle approaching his vehicle from behind at a high rate of speed. [R26.5:20-21]. Officer Stelter estimated that this speed was higher than the posted speed limit. [R26.7:7-10]. Officer Stelter attempted to get behind the vehicle to obtain information about the vehicle and the operator. [R26.7:24-25]. As the officer slowed down his vehicle, the vehicle that approached at a speed, slowed his vehicle. high rate of [R26.8:3-4].Officer Stelter testified that based on his training and experience, the suspect vehicle was attempting to prevent the officer from obtaining the information from the rear license plate of the vehicle. [R26.8:17-20].

Next Officer Stelter observed the vehicle slowly weaving several feet to the right and left within its lane. [R26.9:13-14]. Officer Stelter testified that weaving in a lane is often indicia of impaired driving. [R26.9:20-22]. As Officer Stelter was attempting to an NCIS check on the vehicle and the driver, he noticed the driver put his turn signal on, go to the furthest right lane, and come to a

complete stop at a flashing yellow traffic [R26.10:5-9]. The vehicle stopped at the flashing yellow traffic light for a second or two. [R26.10:6]. After sitting at the flashing yellow light for a second or two, the vehicle deactivated the turn signal and proceeded through the intersection. [R26.10:7-8]. Officer Stelter indicated that a person stopping at a blinking yellow traffic signal for several seconds is a possible indicia of impaired driving. [R26.10:9-12]. At this time, Officer Stelter activated his emergency lights and stopped the vehicle. [R26.10:14-15]. After he pulled over vehicle, Officer Stelter identified the driver by a Wisconsin Driver's License as John Eaton. [R26.10:18-24].

Mr. Eaton was charged with Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated (Second Offense) and Operating a Motor Vehicle with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (Second Offense).

A suppression hearing was held on October 19, 2009. [R26.1]. At the hearing, Officer Stelter testified that he observed a vehicle approach his vehicle at approximately 45 miles per hour, a rate higher than the posted speed limit of 35.[R26.7:7-14]. In summarizing his reasons stopping the vehicle, Officer Stelter concluded:

"the time of the night being 2:18 am, which is right around the time that bars and taverns are closing their doors and sending their patrons out, the fact that the vehicle was in my estimation exceeding the speed limit, the vehicle did not make any attempt to slow until it was near my position on the roadway and slowed as I slowed to obtain additional information, the vehicle weaved within its lane, the vehicle activated its turn signal and came to a complete stop at a flashing yellow light and deactivated its turn signal and continued through that intersection."

[R26.11:20-25-12:7].

The circuit court found that the stop was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances in this case and denied the defendant's motion to suppress. [R26.30:20-23]. The circuit court summarized the totality of the circumstances as follows:

He knows it's bar time. It's 2:18. He sees a vehicle coming up on him at what he determines, rightly or wrongly, but he determines as excess of the speed limit. That's an indicator that someone may be impaired. The vehicle slows as the officer slows. I don't find that too unusual, but it is a factor that's added into the other factors; he's weaving in his lane and I accept the officer's testimony that he, as the officer drops behind him, the defendant's vehicle proceeds and turns on the turn signal, and then doesn't turn, but stops for these flashing lights and granted, a flashing light in Wisconsin says proceed with caution, but it does not necessarily He stops, then proceeds on. I think a reasonable person under those circumstances would at least have reasonable suspicion something is going on, and would have a responsibility to see what was missed, if anything.

[R26.30:2-19].

ARGUMENT

I. OFFICER STELTER WAS JUSTIFIED IN EFFECTING A TERRY STOP OF EATON BECAUSE HE HAD REASONABLE SUSPICION BASED ON SPECIFIC, ARTICULABLE FACTS IN LIGHT OF HIS TRAINING AND EXPERIENCE THAT EATON WAS OPERATING A MOTOR VEHICLE WHILE UNDER THE INFLUENCE OF ALCOHOL

A. TERRY STOPS GENERALLY

A police officer may perform a limited investigative stop when, at the time of the stop, the police officer has specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot. See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968); State v. Waldner, supra; Wisconsin Statutes § 968.24. In Terry v. Ohio, supra, the United States Supreme Court held that a police officer may, under appropriate circumstances, detain a person for purposes of investigating possible criminal behavior, even in the absence of probable cause for arrest. Terry, 392 U.S. 1 at 30-31. For such a stop, an officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those reasonably warrant the intrusion of the stop. Id. at 21. State v. Post, 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 10. The Fourth Amendment

does not require a police officer who lacks the precise level of information necessary for probable cause to arrest to simply shrug his shoulders and allow a crime to occur or a criminal to escape. On the contrary, <u>Terry v. Ohio</u>, 392 U.S. 1, 22, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968), recognizes that "it may be the essence of good police work to adopt an intermediate response."

Wisconsin has adopted the <u>Terry</u> rule [see, e.g., <u>State</u> v. <u>Chambers</u>, 55 Wis. 2d 289, 294, 198 N.W.2d 377 (1972)], and has codified it in Wisconsin Statutes § 968.24 (07-8), which provides:

After having identified himself or herself as a law enforcement officer, a law enforcement officer may stop a person in a public place for a reasonable period of time when the officer reasonably suspects that such person is committing, is about to commit or has committed a crime, and may demand the name and address of the person and an explanation of the person's conduct. Such detention and temporary questioning shall be conducted in the vicinity where the person was stopped.

To execute a valid investigatory stop, a law enforcement officer must reasonably suspect, in light of his or her experience, that some kind of criminal activity has taken or is taking place. State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 139, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990). Lawful acts may form the basis for a police officer's reasonable

suspicion of criminal activity. $\underline{\text{Waldner}}$, 206 Wis. 2d at 58-59.

In reviewing whether a stop was justified by specific and articulable facts, an appellate court is not bound by the police officer's motivation or subjective assessment of State v. Anderson, 149 Wis. 2d 663, the circumstances. 675, 439 N.W.2d 840 (Ct. App. 1989), reversed on other grounds by State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 454 N.W.2d stop is considered lawful 763 (1990). The circumstances, viewed objectively, justify the stop. Id. Whether the circumstances satisfy the reasonableness requirement is a question of law reviewed without deference to the lower court. See Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 54.

B.REASONABLENESS UNDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES

The test of whether a <u>Terry</u> stop is justified is whether the stop was reasonable under the totality of the circumstances. <u>Waldner</u>, 206 Wis. 2d at 58; see also <u>State</u> <u>v. Post</u>, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 2, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. An officer may conduct an investigative stop when the officer has grounds to reasonably suspect, under the totality of the circumstances, that a traffic violation has

been or will be committed. State v. Popke, 317 Wis. 2d 118, ¶ 23, 765 N.W.2d 569. In determining what facts are sufficient to authorize police to stop an individual or a vehicle, the court must take the totality of circumstances into account. State v. Williams, 2002 WI App 306, ¶ 12, 258 Wis. 2d 395, 655 N.W.2d 462 (internal citations omitted); State v. Post, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 2, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634. The crucial question is whether the facts of the case would warrant a reasonable police officer, in light of his or her training and experience, to suspect that the individual has committed, was committing, or is about to commit a crime. State v. Taylor, 226 Wis. 2d 490, 495, 595 N.W.2d 56 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 83-84, 454 N.W.2d 763 (1990). This test is an objective one: would the facts available to the officer at the moment of the stop or seizure warrant a person of reasonable caution in the belief that the action taken was appropriate? State v. Richardson, 156 Wis. 2d 128, 139, 456 N.W.2d 830 (1990). However, an officer is not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief investigatory stop. State v. Anderson, 155 Wis. 2d 77, 84, 454 N.W.2d 763

(1990). The test is ultimately one of reasonableness. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d at 55.

1.THE STOP OF EATON'S VEHICLE WAS JUSTIFIED UNDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES

In applying the law to the facts of the instant case, $\underline{\text{State v. Post}}$, 2007 WI 60, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634, is instructive. In $\underline{\text{Post}}$, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that while a vehicle's weaving within a single lane is not in itself enough to justify a $\underline{\text{Terry}}$ stop, the officer must take into account the totality of the circumstances in order to find reasonable suspicion to stop a vehicle. $\underline{\text{Id}}$. at $\P\P$ 2, 26.

The Court in Post, relying upon that same Court's decision in State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996), also found that lateral movements by a vehicle need not be "erratic, unsafe, or [even] illegal" in order for there to be reasonable suspicion for a stop. State v. Post, 2007 WI 60 at ¶¶ 23-24. In looking at the totality of the circumstances, the Post Court took into account the time of night - in that case, 9:30 pm - as well as the vehicle's weaving within its own lane, and determined that

the officer did in fact have reasonable suspicion to stop Post's vehicle. Id. at $\P\P$ 36-38.

In this case Officer Stelter articulated several facts that provided the reasonable suspicion necessary to stop the defendant's vehicle.

a. Bar Time

First, Officer Stelter observed the defendant's vehicle traveling down East Washington at 2:18 am on June 6, 2009. In Officer Stelter's training and experience, 2:18 am is the time of morning when bars and taverns are closing their doors and sending their patrons out. [R26.11:20-22]. Driving down the street at 2:18 am in the morning is not unlawful. However, the time of morning can be used in the calculation of the totality of circumstances that Officer Stelter used when stopping the defendant's vehicle. State v. Lange, 2009 WI 49, ¶32(indicating that the time of night the defendant was out is relevant).

b. Speed of the Vehicle

Secondly, Officer Stelter estimated the vehicle exceeded the posted speed limit of 35 miles per hour. [R26.13:1-3]. Officer Stelter described the defendant's vehicle approaching his vehicle at a high rate of speed. [R26.7:7-10]. Based on Officer Stelter's training, the

vehicle was traveling at approximately 45 miles per hour. [R26.7:14]. This estimation meant the vehicle was traveling at least 10 miles per hour over the posted 35 mile per hour. [R26.13.1]. While there was no specific case law indicating how a driver of a moving vehicle can accurately look behind him and estimate the speed of an approaching vehicle, Officer Stelter stated that he was trained to estimate vehicles coming from various directions coming towards and away from him. [R26.7.2-6]. Based on this training, Officer Stelter estimated that the defendant's vehicle traveled at a rate higher than posted speed limit. [R26.7:7-10].

c. Slowing down of vehicle

Thirdly, Officer Stelter observed the defendant's vehicle slow down so as to prevent him from being able to obtain the information from the rear license place of the vehicle. [R26.8:17-20]. Officer Stelter slowed his vehicle down to approximately 18 miles per hour before the defendant's vehicle stopped slowing down with Officer Stelter's vehicle. [R26.8:3-7]. This slowing down of the defendant's vehicle indicated to Officer Stelter that the defendant was attempting to prevent the officer from being able to obtain information from the rear license plate of

the vehicle. [R26.8:17-20]. While the circuit court did not find the fact that the defendant slows as the officer slows as "too unusual," [R26.30:7] the circuit court noted that it is a factor that's added into the other factors. [R26.30:7-8].

d. Weaving Within the Lane

Fourthly, Officer Stelter testified that he observed the vehicle slowly weaving within its lane. [R26.9:13-14]. In addition, Officer Stelter observed the vehicle drifting several feet to the right and to the left as it is traveling. [R26.9:17-19]. In Officer Stelter's training and experience, slowly weaving is often an indication of impaired driving. [R26.9:20-22]. The defendant indicates that the video of the weaving should be excluded because the video directly contradicts Officer Stelter's testimony. However, Officer Stelter testified that the video quality that he was watching on the computer had a blurry glare. [R26.20:5-7]. Officer Stelter also testified that he was not able to see everything on that video that he observed in person. [R26.20:8-10]. In fact Officer Stelter does doubt whether or not he saw the car [R26.20:11-13]. The circuit court concluded that the best

evidence is what the officer testified to and under oath. [R26.29:15-16].

e. Stop at a Blinking Yellow Light

Lastly, Officer Stelter testified that the vehicle came to a complete stop for several seconds at a blinking yellow light. [R26.10:9-11]. Officer Stelter observed the vehicle come to a complete stop at the blinking yellow traffic signal and the vehicle sat at the yellow blinking traffic light for a second or two. [R26.10:4-9]. officer's training and experience, a person coming to a complete stop for several seconds at a blinking yellow traffic light is a possible indicator of impaired driving. [R26.10:11-13]. While stopping at a flashing yellow traffic light may not be against the law, the stopping of the defendant's vehicle could place other drivers at risk especially if drivers follow the law and continue proceed through the yellow flashing lights. The stopping at the flashing yellow traffic light can be used as a factor when examining the totality of the circumstances Officer Stelter used when stopping the defendant's vehicle. State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 61 (1996).

As the circuit court noted, there was no single overt act that would serve as the constitutional basis for a

stop, but circuit courts have to look at the totality of the circumstances. [R26.29:18-20]. The series of acts taken together warranted further investigation by Officer Stelter. As the Court noted in Post: "The proper test to apply is for the court to look to the totality of the facts taken together. The building blocks of facts accumulate. And as they accumulate, reasonable inferences about the cumulative effect can be drawn." 301 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 16.

CONCLUSION

The Court should deny the Defendant-Appellant's motion and uphold the circuit court's decision. Officer Stelter presented specific and articulable facts, which taken together with rational inferences from those facts, give rise the reasonable suspicion necessary for to investigative stop. Specifically, Officer Stelter observed the defendant traveling at a high rate of speed, after bar time, slowing down of vehicle to prevent the officer from obtaining vehicle information, a vehicle weaving in its lane, and stopping at a yellow flashing traffic light. facts, when taken together give rise These reasonable suspicion necessary for Officer Stelter to stop

the defendant's vehicle and as such the stop was not in violation of Eaton's Constitutional rights.